STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenwood County

Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JAN 08 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MATTHEW ANTWAIN JACKSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001857

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to charge the lesser included offense of cruelty to children when the severity of the child's injuries was a question for the jury and the State's expert witness opined that the child's bruises could not have happened during a fall that the defendant testified was an accident?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 10, 2011, a Greenwood County grand jury indicted appellant for inflicting great bodily injury upon a child. On August 7, 2013, appellant was tried before the Honorable Frank R. Addy and a jury. R. 1. Elizabeth White and Aaron Taylor represented the State. R. 1. Janna Nelson and Meghan Flannery represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 174, ll. 7 – 12. Judge Addy sentenced appellant to twenty years' imprisonment suspended upon the service of twelve years' imprisonment and five years' probation. R. 183, ll. 4 – 8. After timely filing and service of a notice of appeal, this appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in refusing to charge the lesser included offense of cruelty to children when the severity of the child's injuries was a question for the jury and the State's expert witness opined that the child's bruises could not have happened during a fall that the defendant testified was an accident.

Introduction

Appellant's almost two-year old son ("Child") suffered a head injury that required emergency medical treatment and hospitalization. Doctors found bruises on other places on Child's body. R. 70, ll. 21 – 23. The State's expert witness said the bruises could not have arisen from the same event as the head injury. R. 84, l. 16 – 86, l. 1. The indictment charging appellant with inflicting great bodily injury upon a child contained a "to wit" listing both "head trauma" and "severe bruising" as Child's injuries. R. 189. Appellant testified that he unintentionally dropped Child on his head while playing with him. R. 117, l. 10 – 118, l. 22. Even though the trial judge recognized appellant had a defense to the head injury since he charged the jury on accident, he refused to charge the lesser included offense of cruelty to children which was warranted by the State's expert's testimony regarding Child's bruises.

Relevant Facts

Child's mother sent him to stay with his father, appellant Matthew Antwain Jackson ("Jackson"), for a long weekend. R. 15, l. 12 – 16, l. 4. Child was also going to stay with Jackson's mother, Undrea Segar ("Segar"). R. 15, l. 12 – 16, l. 11. Segar testified for the State. R. 23, ll. 2 – 8. She used to work as a certified nursing assistant. R. 26, ll. 20 – 23. Child would visit with Segar and Jackson once or twice a month. R. 23, l. 20 – 24, l. 3.

Child would “bounce back and forth” between Jackson’s house and Segar’s house during these visits. R. 24, ll. 7 – 10.

On the weekend of Child’s head injury, Segar kept him the first night of his visit. R. 24, l. 11 – 25, l. 3. Segar took Child to Jackson’s house the next afternoon. R. 25, ll. 2 – 3. Segar planned to leave for Delaware the next day, Thursday, January 20, 2011. R. 25, ll. 14 – 16. Instead of leaving for Delaware, Segar received a frantic telephone call from her son telling her that something was wrong and he needed her to come to his house. R. 25, ll. 14 – 25.

It only took Segar a couple of minutes to reach Jackson’s house. R. 25, l. 17 – 26, l. 8. She saw a girl on her knees pressing on Child’s chest. R. 26, ll. 9 – 19. Because of her medical training, Segar knew the girl did not know what she was doing and told her to stop. R. 26, ll. 9 – 19. Segar saw Child lift his arm up in response to her voice. R. 26, ll. 9 – 19. She only had time to call Child’s name to her three times before EMS arrived. R. 26, ll. 9 – 19. Segar moved out of the way and let EMS work. R. 27, ll. 5 – 13.

EMS employee Rodney Free (the “EMT”) responded to a 911 call for a pediatric fall. R. 31, ll. 14 – 20. He saw Jackson standing outside “with his hands on his head crying and screaming.” R. 36, ll. 18 – 22. The EMT saw Child laying behind a couch being tended by “an adult female.” R. 31, ll. 21 – 25. Child was “unresponsive with his eyes open, not breathing the best at the time.” R. 31, l. 21 – 32, l. 1. The EMT was told that Child “fell off the back of the couch and landed on the floor.” R. 32, ll. 9 – 11. When asked who gave him this information, the EMT replied, “I want to say the female that was there with the child told us he fell from the couch.” R. 32, ll. 9 – 15. EMS transported Child to the hospital in Greenwood and he was then airlifted to Greenville.

R. 32, l. 19 – 35, l. 20. The EMT noted bruises to Child's legs in his report. R. 34, ll. 13 – 15.

Officer Martin Haralson ("Haralson") of the Greenwood Police department responded to the hospital in Greenwood. R. 45, ll. 18 – 25. He saw a bruise on child's leg. R. 46, ll. 20 – 25. He described child as "unresponsive" with "a blank stare." R. 47, ll. 1 – 5. He took photos of Child. R. 47, l. 17 – 48, l. 8. (State's Ex. 1 - 4). As described by the officer and can be seen by the Court in the photographs, some of the alleged injuries are "really hard to see."¹ R. 49, ll. 2 – 4. (State's Ex. 1 – 4; 22 - 29).

Officer Haralson spoke to Jackson at the hospital. R. 49, l. 11 – 50, l. 8. Jackson told the officer that he was preparing to give Child a bath. R. 49, l. 11 – 50, l. 8. While the tub was filling out with water, Jackson sat down next to the child on the couch and played a video game. R. 49, l. 11 – 50, l. 8. Child then fell from the couch "onto the top of his head." R. 49, l. 11 – 50, l. 8. When Jackson saw the child was not breathing, "he ran outside." R. 49, l. 11 – 50, l. 8. Since Jackson did not have a telephone he screamed for help. R. 49, l. 11 – 50, l. 8. Jackson ran next door where the neighbor had a phone and called 911. R. 49, l. 11 – 50, l. 8.

Jackson admitted lying to Officer Haralson about how Child hit his head. R. 126, ll. 15 – 22. R. 124, ll. 2 – 9. Jackson was scared that no one would believe what happened to Child because Jackson was "a young, black man with dreads, you easily get

¹ Officer Haralson was only referring to State's Exhibits 1 – 4 in his testimony, but appellant has included in the record all of the photographs of Child's bruises for the Court's review. Appellant would also point out that Exhibit 22, depicting Child's buttocks, was published to the jury with a curative instruction that no allegation of sexual abuse existed in the case. R. 62, ll. 3 – 19. Even the State's expert witness did not know what caused some of the irregularities depicted in Exhibit 22, although Child's grandmother testified Child had diaper rash. R. 77, l. 4 – 78, l. 13. R. 28, l. 16 – 29, l. 3.

judged by anybody.” R. 124, ll. 2 – 9. Jackson was playing with child, lifting him up and down above his head, without releasing him. R. 116, ll. 4 – 16. An old injury in his wrist caused a sharp pain and Jackson dropped his son. R. 116, l. 17 – 118, l. 2. Child’s head hit the floor. R. 118, ll. 19 – 22. Jackson saw child’s head “dropping back” and child’s eyes rolling which “scared the living daylights” out of Jackson. R. 119, ll. 1 – 4.

Jackson “shot out the door” because he did not have a phone to call for help. R. 119, ll. 1 – 6. He screamed and banged on doors begging for help. R. 119, ll. 9 – 22. A woman came outside, Jackson told her to call 911, and she went back for her phone. R. 119, ll. 9 – 22. Then, a friend of Jackson’s opened his door and let him use his phone to call his mother who Jackson knew had medical training and was “closer than the paramedics.” R. 120, ll. 4 – 17.

On cross-examination, Jackson stated he did not realize or did not know about Child’s bruises. R. 131, l. 20 – 132, l. 1. R. 135, ll. 15 – 21. The solicitor cross-examined him further about Child’s bruises:

Q. Now, you gave him a bath every night, didn’t you?

A. Yes, ma’am.

Q. Did you play with him every day?

A. Yes, ma’am. Brought joy to him. Brought joy to him. He smiled every time I played with him. That’s why I played with him. If he didn’t like me playing with him I wouldn’t have played [with] him. We just sit there and played the game all night.

Q. But you never put those kind of bruises on him playing with him before?

A. Like I say, I didn’t pay attention to if I was bruising him or not. I did not pay that no attention.

Q. So you weren't paying attention when you were bathing him?

A. Not to look for any bruises. Only thing I was concerned about was the diaper rash he had. He had bad diaper rash, so I wasn't looking for no bruises, something that I didn't that I was doing to him. I didn't know to look for that.

R. 135, ll. 3 – 21.

Segar did not notice any bruising on Child before she dropped him off at Jackson's house. R. 28, ll. 16 – 22. Segar said that Child had diaper rash and had "always had red splotches and a green one above his crack. All of them are born like that." R. 28, ll. 16 – 22. Child's mother testified he had no bruises when she dropped him off with Segar. R. 16, ll. 17 – 18.

Without objection, the State offered Dr. Mary-Fran Crosswell ("Crosswell") as an expert "in child abuse pediatrics." R. 69, ll. 10 – 16. Dr. Crosswell examined Child on the day after he arrived at the hospital in Greenville. R. 70, ll. 19 – 21. She testified that Child suffered a subdural hemorrhage on his brain. R. 83, ll. 3 – 11. Dr. Crosswell said this injury was life-threatening and impaired Child's breathing. R. 84, ll. 1 – 15. She also explained the other bruises she noted on Child's body. R. 80, l. 2 – 81, l. 7. A diagram showing the bruises' location was entered into evidence. State's Exhibit 31.

However, as pointed out on cross-examination, most of Dr. Crosswell's opinions concerning Child's brain injury were based on a report from the hospital in Greenwood of a CT scan conducted before Child was transported to Greenville. R. 87, ll. 2 – 16. Dr. Crosswell never saw the actual scan. R. 87, ll. 11 – 16. After admitting that CT scans could err, for example, if a child moved, Dr. Crosswell also admitted that the scan in Greenville showed much less severe findings, calling the injury "subtle," and showing

“no midline shift” and “minimal blood.” R. 88, ll. 4 – 13. The Greenville scan showed “no significant soft tissue swelling.” R. 89, ll. 21 – 24. The reason Child was airlifted to Greenville was because Greenwood’s hospital was not a “level one trauma center” and Greenville has a children’s hospital. R. 34, ll. 19 – 35, l. 20.

Dr. Crosswell opined that the injuries were not caused by accidental trauma because they were located in multiple places. R. 84, ll. 16 – 86, l. 1. R: 81, l. 8 – 82, l. 13. She believed that because some of the bruises had different shades, the child had been “hit multiple times in that area.” R. 82, ll. 4 – 13. As for whether a fall could have caused the head injury and the bruising, Dr. Crosswell testified:

Q. Typically, would a fall from a 19’ inch height cause a subdural hematoma?

A. **It is possible.** It is not common, but it is possible.

Q. **I guess the same thing with being dropped from a caretaker’s arms?**

A. **Correct.**

Q. Now, based on your education, training, and experience, **would a one-time fall from a 19 inch height cause a subdural hematoma and all of the bruising that we just talked about on this diagram?**

A. **No. It would not. The fact that he had multiple bruises on the soft tissues of his face, his ear, and his buttocks show that there are multiple planes on his body that were impacted that could not have resulted from an isolated fall.**

Q. When you talk about multiple planes of his body, are you talking about his back and his side and his head?

A. Correct. On his head alone he had bruising on three planes of his body. One on one side, one on the front, and one on the other side. **It**

would not be possible for him to sustain all those injuries to three different planes of his body from a single, simple fall as described.

Q. What would cause an injury to three separate planes on his face?

A. Multiple blunt force trauma to his head.

Q. So either multiple falls or multiple strikes? Something along those lines?

A. Correct.

Q. Would wrestling around, in your opinion, cause this degree of bruising?

A. No.

Q. Doctor Crosswell, taking all of these injuries into account, in your opinion are [Child's] injuries due to accidental trauma?

A. No, they are not.

R. 84, ll. 16 – 86, l. 1 (emphasis added).

The Charge Conferences at Trial

After the State rested, the trial court held a charge conference. R. 105, l. 21 – 112, l. 2. The defense originally asked that second degree assault and battery be charged as a lesser included offense. R. 106, ll. 9 – 13. Trial counsel stated, “I think there’s evidence there to support a jury finding that it could be moderate injury, moderate bodily injury, Your Honor.” R. 106, ll. 9 – 13. The State responded that the assault and battery statutes were separate from the child abuse statutes and were not lesser included offenses of the charged crime of inflicting great bodily injury upon a child. R. 106, l. 14 – 108, l. 14.

Judge Addy discussed the problem of the assault statutes stating, “I am well aware of circumstances where you have a parent who unlawfully strikes a child, hits a child, but

it doesn't rise to the level of great bodily injury. And it doesn't fall under unlawful conduct towards a child because of bodily harm is not so severe that the life or health of the child was endangered or is likely to be endangered." R. 109, l. 21 – 110, l. 5. The solicitor stated that the situation described by the court was covered by section 63 – 5 – 80 of the South Carolina Code, cruelty to children. R. 110, ll. 13 – 16.

Defense counsel amended her argument and asked the court to charge cruelty to children as a lesser included offense. R. 110, ll. 21 – 22. R. 111, ll. 18 – 24. Defense counsel cited the statute stating that "whoever cruelly ill treats, etc., etc., or inflicts unnecessary pain or suffering upon a child, whether the person is the parent or guardian or has charge or custody. And I think that is supported by the evidence." R. 111, ll. 18 – 24. The trial judge took the matter under advisement and the trial continued with Jackson's testimony. R. 111, l. 25 – 112, l. 4.

The trial judge resumed the charge conference after the defense rested. R. 137, l. 1 – 138, l. 23. The trial judge first noted that appellant's testimony warranted an accident charge. R. 139, l. 1 – 140, l. 1. He then asked the solicitor for her opinion on whether cruelty to children should be charged as a lesser included offense. R. 140, ll. 7 – 13. The solicitor admitted it was a lesser included offense but argued that the child's injuries were too severe to warrant the charge. R. 140, l. 14 – 141, l. 2. Defense counsel responded that the cruelty to children statute provided for pain and suffering and that the evidence could be interpreted in this manner. R. 141, ll. 3 – 6.

The trial judge stated that Jackson's testimony was that the injuries "were completely accidental" and "the jury is either going to decide your client is telling the truth or he is not." R. 141, ll. 7 – 8. Defense counsel argued that if the jury decided that

Jackson was not telling the truth, that “cruelty to children would be something they could convict on because it does provide for inflicting unnecessary pain or suffering upon a child.” R. 141, ll. 20 – 24. Judge Addy then ruled that he would not charge cruelty to children, “based upon the law or based upon the evidence that’s been presented today.” R. 142, ll. 11 – 24. The trial judge’s comments during his ruling seem to indicate that he agreed with the parties that cruelty to children was a lesser included offense, but that the evidence did not warrant the charge. R. 142, ll. 11 – 24.

In her closing argument, defense counsel argued that “Bruises, no matter how horrible, don’t cause death. Like I said, I’m talking about substantial risk of death because that’s the standard of the law here.” R. 150, ll. 14 – 17. Citing Dr. Crosswell’s testimony, the State argued that even if there was a fall, it “couldn’t cause... all of the other bruising that [Child] had on his body.” R. 153, ll. 7 – 13. The trial judge ultimately charged only unlawful conduct toward a child as a lesser included offense and did not charge cruelty to children. R. 169, l. 1 – 171, l. 19.

Discussion

Because the severity of Child’s injuries was a question of fact for the jury, the trial judge erred in refusing to charge cruelty to children. The law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). Reversible error is committed if the trial court fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). Moreover, when determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser included offense, the court views the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant. See Knoten, 347 S.C. at 302, 555 S.E.2d at 394 (requiring the trial court to

view facts in the light most favorable to a defendant when determining whether to charge involuntary manslaughter).

As pointed out by defense counsel, one of the key facts the jury needed to decide was the severity of Child's injuries. R. 141, ll. 20 – 24. As is relevant to this case, the three child abuse statutes differ in terms of the severity of the injuries or risk of injury to the child. The charged crime defines "great bodily injury" as "bodily injury which creates a substantial risk of death or which causes serious or permanent disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-95 (C). The next rung down on the ladder of child abuse statutes is unlawful conduct toward a child. S.C. Code Ann. § 63-5-70. A parent can be found guilty if he either places "the child at unreasonable risk of harm affecting the child's life, physical or mental health, or safety" or "unlawfully or maliciously" causes "any bodily harm to the child so that the life or health of the child is endangered or likely to be endangered." S.C. Code Ann. § 63-5-70(A)(1) and (2).

The trial judge recognized that the distinction between these two statutes—for purposes of the evidence presented in this case—was the severity of injury because he charged unlawful conduct as a lesser included offense. R. 169, l. 1 – 171, l. 19. Despite this recognition, he decided as a matter of law that the injuries were too severe and therefore excluded cruelty to children from the jury's consideration. This decision was error because the evidence presented could have been found to constitute "unnecessary pain or suffering" or cruel treatment. S.C. Code Ann § 63-5-80. See also State v. White; 361 S.C. 407, 413-14, 605 S.E.2d 540, 543 (2004) (noting that whether to charge a lesser included assault offense depends, in part, "on the degree of violence and the

circumstances attending to the attack.”).

The severity of the injury was very much a question for the jury. See State v. Murphy, 322 S.C. 321, 325-26, 471 S.E.2d 739, 741 (Ct. App. 1996) (finding that question of severity of assault required the charging of a lesser-included assault offense). As the pictures admitted into evidence show, reasonable people could differ on the severity of the bruises on the child’s body. State’s Ex. 31; State’s Ex. 1-4, 22-29. Dr. Crosswell described Child’s symptoms from the bruises as being “not able to sit down.” R. 82, ll. 4 – 13. The only medication Child was given for pain was Tylenol. R. 91, ll. 18 – 20.

Defense counsel pointed out discrepancies in the findings between the Greenwood and Greenville hospitals, with the Greenville scan calling the head injury “subtle” and showing “no significant soft tissue swelling.” R. 88, ll. 4 – 24. Dr. Crosswell apparently felt the child’s injuries were not so severe that she felt comfortable disregarding the radiologist’s recommendation to perform an MRI. R. 88, l. 14 – 89, l. 11. The child did not require any surgical procedure for the brain. R. 91, l. 18 – 92, l. 13. Child made a full recovery and had no subsequent problems. R. 21, l. 8 – 22, l. 21. R. 30, ll. 17 – 22.