19
ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

RECEIVED

JAN 09 2015

**APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge**

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2013-001857

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

MATTHEW ANTWAIN JACKSON,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729**

**Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727**

**DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit**

**P.O. Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 942-8800**

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly declined Appellant's request to charge the jury on the lesser offense of cruelty to children where: (1) cruelty to children is not a lesser included offense of infliction of great bodily injury upon a child; and (2) no evidence was presented at trial from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed. Furthermore, to the extent it was error to decline to charge cruelty to children, that error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in refusing to charge the lesser offense of cruelty to children because the severity of the child's injury was a question for the jury and because the State's expert witness opined the bruises on the victim's body could not have happened during a fall Appellant testified was an accident. The State submits Appellant's argument is without merit and should be dismissed for several reasons. First, cruelty to children is not a lesser included offense of the indicted crime of inflicting great bodily injury upon a child. Second, even if it is a lesser included offense, the trial judge did not err by refusing to charge cruelty to children where there was no evidence tending to show Appellant was guilty of only the lesser offense. Finally, where the jury found Appellant guilty of inflicting great bodily injury upon a child rather than the second-tier lesser included offense of unlawful conduct toward a child, Appellant could not have been prejudiced by the trial court's failure to charge the third-tier lesser offense of cruelty to children, and any error was necessarily harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41,

48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). The appellate court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. State v. Moore, 374 S.C. 468, 473-74, 649 S.E.2d 84, 86 (Ct. App. 2007).

**Cruelty to Children is not a Lesser Included Offense of
Inflicting Great Bodily Injury Upon a Child**

In a criminal case, the trial court's subject matter jurisdiction is limited to those crimes charged in the indictment and all lesser included offenses. State v. Burton, 356 S.C. 259, 264, 589 S.E.2d 6, 8 (2003); State v. Watson, 349 S.C. 372, 375, 563 S.E.2d 336, 337 (2002). The test for determining whether a crime is a lesser included offense of the crime charged is whether the greater of the two offenses includes all the elements of the lesser offense. State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 215, 641 S.E.2d 873, 877 (2007); Burton, 356 S.C. at 264, 589 S.E.2d at 8. Under this "elements test," the lesser offense is included in the greater only if each of its elements is always a necessary element of the greater offense. State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 134, 489 S.E.2d 617, 624 (1997). If the lesser offense includes an element not included in the greater offense, then the lesser offense is not included in the greater. Northcutt, 372 S.C. at 215, 641 S.E.2d at 877. When an offense fails to strictly satisfy the elements test, the appellate courts will nevertheless construe it as a lesser included offense if the offense has traditionally been considered a lesser included offense of the greater offense charged. Id.; Watson, 349 S.C. at 376, 563 S.E.2d at 338.

The elements of infliction of great bodily injury upon a child are: (1) infliction of; (2) great bodily injury; (3) upon a child. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-95 (Supp. 2011). "For purposes of this section, 'great bodily injury' means bodily injury which creates a

substantial risk of death or which causes serious or permanent disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ.” Id. The elements of “cruelty to children” are either: (1)(a) cruelly, (b) ill-treating, (c) a child; (2)(a) depriving, (b) a child, (c) of necessary sustenance or shelter; or (3)(a) infliction of; (b) unnecessary pain or suffering, (c) upon a child. S.C. Code Ann. § 63-5-80 (Supp. 2011).

Infliction of great bodily injury upon a child does not require the actor to act “cruelly” when inflicting that bodily injury upon the child. It also does not require the deprivation of “necessary sustenance or shelter.” Likewise, infliction of great bodily injury upon a child does not strictly require that the infliction of injury causes “pain” or “suffering.” Finally, there appears to be no historical antecedent in South Carolina case law suggesting cruelty to children is considered a lesser included offense of infliction of great bodily injury upon a child. Because cruelty to children does not satisfy the elements test, and has not traditionally been considered a lesser included offense of infliction of great bodily injury upon a child, the trial court did not err in denying Appellant’s request to charge cruelty to children to the jury.

No Evidence Supporting a Jury Charge on Cruelty to Children

The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. White, 361 S.C. 407, 412, 605 S.E.2d 540, 542 (2004). “A trial judge is required to charge the jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed.” State v. Green, 397 S.C. 268, 289, 724 S.E.2d 664, 674 (2012). Conversely, a trial judge does not err by refusing to charge a lesser included offense where there is no evidence tending to show

the defendant was guilty of only the lesser offense. White, 361 S.C. at 407, 605 S.E.2d at 542. Indeed, the trial court may and should refuse a charge on a lesser included offense where there is no evidence that a defendant committed the lesser rather than the greater offense. State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994). “The mere contention that the jury might accept the State’s evidence in part and reject it in part is insufficient to satisfy the requirement that some evidence tends to show the defendant was guilty only of the lesser offense.” State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 608, 635 S.E.2d 669, 674 (Ct. App. 2006). In reviewing a trial judge’s jury instructions, the appellate court must view the jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009). An appellate court will not reverse a trial judge’s decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Santiago, 370 S.C. 153, 159, 634 S.E.2d 23, 26 (Ct. App. 2006).

As described above, the elements of infliction of great bodily injury upon a child are: (1) infliction of; (2) great bodily injury; (3) upon a child where “‘great bodily injury’ means bodily injury which creates a substantial risk of death or which causes serious or permanent disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-95 (Supp. 2011). By comparison, a person can be guilty of cruelty to children for purposes of Appellant’s argument if he or she only: (1) cruelly ill-treats a child; or (2) inflicts unnecessary pain or suffering upon a child. S.C. Code Ann. § 63-5-80 (Supp. 2011).

Here, the State offered testimony from Dr. Crosswell, an expert in child abuse pediatrics. She described the extensive bruising covering the victim’s buttocks, hips, and thighs, all of which indicated different sources of impact. She also described a bruise on

his ear that was not common for accidental injuries. Based on these injuries alone, Dr. Crosswell opined the victim had been hit multiple times. (R.p.80, line 1-p.82, line 13). Dr. Crosswell also described the subdural hemorrhage and displacement of the brain revealed by a CT scan of the victim's head, which can be a life-threatening injury without intervention and medical care. She testified it was possible a fall from nineteen inches could have caused the head injury; however, an isolated fall could not have caused both the head injury and the multiple bruises on multiple planes on the victim's body. In particular, Dr. Crosswell testified the bruises to the victim's face were caused by multiple blunt force trauma to his head. She opined that the victim's injuries were not due to accidental trauma. (R.p.82, line 14-p.86, line 1). On re-direct, Dr. Crosswell testified she would characterize the victim's head injury as a life-threatening injury. (R.p.92, line 17-p.95, line 16). Thus, the only evidence offered by the State demonstrates Appellant intentionally inflicted bodily injury upon the victim, and those injuries, taken as a whole, created a substantial risk of death.

By comparison, Appellant only offered evidence that the victim's injuries were entirely accidental. He insisted he simply dropped the victim once, by accident, but he never claimed he cruelly ill-treated the victim, or inflicted unnecessary pain or suffering. (R.p.126, lines 8-22). Indeed, Appellant specifically told Detective Nichols he had exclusive custody of the victim in the days leading up to the incident but denied striking his child or participating in any activities that would cause such grave injuries. (R.p.64, line 19-p.65, line 5).

Appellant argues the jury could have believed his testimony that the head injury was accidental and could also have believed Dr. Crosswell's testimony that the bruises

were not received in the fall and that Appellant inflicted them. He contends under this scenario, the jury could have concluded the bruises were only of the severity contemplated by the cruelty to children statute. But these are merely contentions that the jury might accept the State's evidence in part and reject it in part. This is insufficient to satisfy the requirement that some evidence tends to show Appellant was guilty of only the lesser offense. State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 608, 635 S.E.2d 669, 674 (Ct. App. 2006). Because there is no evidence tending to show Appellant was guilty of only the lesser offense, the trial court did not err in denying Appellant's request to charge cruelty to children to the jury.

Harmless Error

Errors are considered to be harmless when they could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003). "It is a rule of practically universal application in appellate procedure that an accused cannot avail himself of error as a ground for reversal where the error has not been prejudicial to him." State v. Hariott, 210 S.C. 290, 298, 42 S.E.2d 285, 288 (1947). Indeed, Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). The harmlessness of an error generally depends on the materiality of the error in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003). Thus, when a review of the entire record establishes an error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, an appellate court should not reverse a conviction. State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003).

In the case at bar, even assuming the trial judge erred in declining to instruct the jury on the lesser offense of cruelty to children, any error was entirely harmless and had no impact on the ultimate outcome of Appellant's case in light of the verdict returned by the jury. The jury's verdict reflected it would not have convicted Appellant of cruelty to children even if the option had been available. The jury found Appellant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of inflicting "great bodily injury" upon the victim and thereby rejected any argument that he inflicted lesser injuries that merely endangered "the life or health of the child." Such lesser injuries would have been a requirement for finding Appellant guilty of unlawful conduct toward a child, the lesser included offense that was charged by the trial court. S.C. Code Ann. § 63-5-70 (Supp. 2011). In other words, the jury concluded the injuries inflicted by Appellant necessarily rose above the level of those required for finding Appellant guilty of cruelty to children. For these reasons, any error in failing to charge cruelty to children was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION